FILED
JUN 21 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

94659.1

NO. 49246-6-II

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2017 JUN 19 AM 11:44

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY [Signature]
DEPUTY

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

NEIL R. BECK, *APPELLANT*,

v.

GLACIER NORTHWEST, INC., *RESPONDENT*.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF
WASHINGTON

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER PLLC
STEVEN L. BUSICK
Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643
Busick Hamrick Palmer PLLC
PO Box 1385
Vancouver, WA 98666
360-696-0228

INTRODUCTION

The appellant, Neil R. Beck, petitions the Supreme Court of the State of Washington for review of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, filed on May 23, 2017.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

1: Did the Court of Appeals error in holding that any error in giving the attending physician instruction via *Clark County v McManus*, 185 Wn. 2d 466, 372 P.2d 764 (2016) was harmless, though there was no attending physician who testified in the case?

A. Did the Court of Appeals error in refusing to apply an exception to the attending physician instruction in a worker compensation appeal where the purported attending physician terminated the Doctor patient relationship within a month after commencing treatment?

B. Was there prejudice in giving the attending physician instruction when the same doctor two months later determined that the worker could return to his job of injury as a concrete mixer truck driver, which resulted in his treatment and time loss benefits ending, and his claim helping closed?

C. Should the Court of Appeals have considered other evidence supporting denial of benefits when Glacier Northwest relied in closing argument on distinguishing the discharged

attending physician verses Mr. Beck's only medical witness who had conducted three independent medical examinations of him?

CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

Mr. Neil Beck maintains that the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals as to when to give the attending physician instruction in worker compensation appeals, and what constitutes prejudice in giving and not giving the instruction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Neil Beck was a 42 year old concrete mixer truck driver for Glacier Northwest, Inc., working out of a batch plant in Woodland, Washington. On May 17, 2005, he was injured sitting on a stool, when a coworker grabbed him in a bear hug from behind, picked him up with the stool, twisting him down to the floor, bringing him back up again, and sitting him back down still on the stool. Mr. Beck filed a claim for industrial injury with the self insured employer, Glacier Northwest. The claim was allowed by the Department of Labor and Industries. Mr. Beck received conservative treatment and his claim was closed by the Department on September 2, 2008, with a permanent partial disability award of a category 2 for dorsal region or thoracic impairment. Clerk's papers No. 6, Certified Appeal Board Record, Jurisdictional History page 152.

On June 23, 2009, Mr. Beck filed an application to reopen his claim for a worsening of his thoracic condition. The reopening application was denied by the Department, Mr. Beck appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and following a full evidentiary hearing before the Board, the Department order was reversed and further treatment was allowed. Glacier Northwest then appealed the Board's determination to Superior Court for Cowlitz County, and the Court without a jury affirmed the Board on February 11, 2011, and the claim was reopened for further treatment. CP No. 6, CABR, page 152-153.

Mr. Beck had moved to Alaska in the interim and received conservative treatment with a neurologist and a pain management doctor, having received an epidural injection in his thoracic spine with two weeks of relief. Mr. Beck describes his pain as a stabbing, back to front, between his shoulder blades as if he has been shot with an arrow. In August 2012, Mr. Beck moved back to Washington to Sequim, where he was referred to Dr. Guy Earle by the nurse case manager hired by the private claim administrator Eberle Vivian for Glacier Northwest. CP No. 6, CABR, N. Beck, 5-29-14; page 29, line 14; page 30, line 16, 18, 24 and 26; page 33, line 16 and 21; page 38, lines 5, 8, 13 and 15.

Dr. Earle saw Mr. Beck on three occasions, September 6, 2012, September 20, 2012, and October 4, 2016. On September 6, 2012, Dr. Earle reviewed a thoracic Magnetic Resonance Imaging study (MRI) performed in March 2011, that showed two herniated thoracic disks at T5-6 and T6-7. Dr. Earle diagnosed a thoracic sprain injury with annular tears at T5-6 and T6-7,

likely producing chronic discogenic pain. On September 20, 2012, Dr. Earle received a job analysis for a concrete mixer truck driver and disapproved the job, requiring lifting and carrying up to 50 pounds. CP No. 6, CABR, Dr. Earle, page 12, line 1; page 13, line 1; page 16, line 25; page 17 line 2; page 20, line 9; page 22, line 18; page 50, lines 14, 18 and 21.

On October 4, 2012, Mr. Beck presented Dr. Earle with a brochure from a surgery center in Houston, Texas, where they could do laser surgery on leaking disks. Mr. Beck asked Dr. Earle to help him obtain another MRI for consideration of laser surgery. Dr. Earle was not happy about the prospect of laser surgery, Mr. Beck was insistent, and Dr. Earle terminated the doctor patient relationship. Then, five months later on December 3, 2012, Dr. Earle signed off on the same job analysis that he had disapproved earlier that Mr. Beck could return to work as a concrete mixer truck driver without restrictions. Mr. Beck's time loss benefits were terminated on December 4, 2012, and his claim was closed without further treatment. CP No. 6, CABR, Dr. Earle, page 46, line 22; page 51, lines 18 and 21; page 53, line 9, 11, 19, 22; page 54 lines 4 and 7; and N. Beck, page 47, line 14.

Dr. Thomas Gritzka, an occupational orthopedist, had conducted independent medical examinations of Mr. Beck on October 10, 2006, December 15, 2009, and February 12, 2014. On the first examination, Dr. Gritzka had diagnosed chronic thoracic sprain with probable intraspinous ligament rupture. On the second examination, Dr. Gritzka reviewed an MRI of the thoracic spine dated June 23, 2009, which showed a disk herniation at T6-7, impinging on the front of the thoracic cord on the left causing mild

The first part of the document discusses the importance of maintaining accurate records of all transactions. It emphasizes that every entry should be supported by a valid receipt or invoice. This ensures transparency and allows for easy verification of the data.

In the second section, the author outlines the various methods used to collect and analyze the data. This includes both primary and secondary data collection techniques. The primary data was gathered through direct observation and interviews, while secondary data was obtained from existing reports and databases.

The third section details the statistical analysis performed on the collected data. This involves the use of descriptive statistics to summarize the data and inferential statistics to test hypotheses. The results of these analyses are presented in a clear and concise manner, highlighting the key findings of the study.

Finally, the document concludes with a discussion of the implications of the findings. It suggests that the results have significant implications for the field of study and provides recommendations for further research. The author also acknowledges the limitations of the study and offers suggestions for how these can be addressed in future work.

flattening of the spinal cord. On the third examination, an MRI of the thoracic spine on April 29, 2013, showed an additional disc herniation at T4-5, and a new finding of bony spurring at T5-6. CR No. 6, CABR, Dr. Gritzka, page 19, lines 4 and 22; page 26, line 5; and page 27, lines 9 and 12; page 36, line 7.

Dr. Gritzka testified that doctors do not know what is wrong with Mr. Beck's mid back, and do not have objective data into his residual functions. Mr. Beck has not reached maximum medical improvement. Mr. Beck needs flexion extension x-rays of his thoracic spine, and a performance based physical capacities evaluation of his lower back to determine what he is capable of doing. Mr. Beck was not able to return to work from June 15, 2009, and on April 13, 2011, while his reopening application was pending before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and on appeal to Superior Court for Cowlitz County and he was not receiving treatment, and December 4, 2012, through May 10, 2013, when the Department of Labor and Industries last acted upon his claim. CP No. 6, CABR Dr. Gritzka, page 46, lines 11 and 25; page 47, lines 11 and 18; page 48, line 17; and page 50, line 2; page 52, line 2.

The self insured employer also called to testify before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals two other doctors who conducted one time independent medical examinations of Mr. Beck. Dr. Douglas Bald conducted his examination on October 29, 2009, and Dr. James Harris conducted his examination on November 15, 2012. Glacier Northwest also introduced surveillance video through a private investigator, showing Mr. Beck engaged in limited construction activities on his newly purchased nineteenth century fixer-upper home in Sequim, Washington, on which the major construction

activities were contracted out, and showed Mr. Beck operating the Kubota tractor his wife purchased for him in Alaska, holding their young son Matthew on his lap while he spread gravel for a driveway, and building a 8 x 12 foot front porch so they could use their front door. CP No. 6, CABR, S. Beck, 10-15-14, page 51, line 16, and N. Beck, 10-15-14, page 60, line 20.

Following an evidentiary hearing before an industrial appeals judge, the Board issued its decision in favor of Glacier Northwest on the issues of the need for further treatment and time loss benefits. Mr. Beck appealed the decision to Superior Court for Cowlitz County, and the case proceeded to a six person jury trial on May 3, 4 and 5. At the conclusion of reading the witness testimony before the Board, the court instructed the jury on the law and gave instruction No. 5, the attending physician instruction proposed by Glacier Northwest, which reads as follows:

You should give special consideration to testimony given by an attending physician. Such special consideration does not require you to give greater weight or credibility to, or to believe or disbelieve such testimony. It does require that you give any such testimony careful though in your deliberations.

Mr. Beck had taken exception to the giving of instruction No. 5 on the basis that Dr. Earle was the only doctor that could be considered the attending physician for Mr. Beck during the period of time in question here, commencing December 4, 2012, and he had discharged Mr. Beck as his patient as of October 4, 2012. Giving the instructions would give Glacier Northwest the authority to argue that Dr. Earle was the attending physician. Report of Proceedings, page 1.

Early on in the closing argument, Glacier Northwest did argue that Dr. Earle was Mr. Beck's attending physician, Dr. Gritzka was not, and Dr. Earle was the more creditable witness and should be believed over Dr. Gritzka. On the issues of whether Mr. Beck has reached maximum medical improvement, or is in need of further treatment, specifically whether he needs a performance based physical capacity evaluation as recommended by Dr. Gritzka. Glacier Northwest argued:

But we've already asked the attending physician – Dr. Earle – and he's like no it's- it's- it's- it's not recommended. And - and above that he's the attending physician.

So now the law about the attending physician – the reason they're entitled to special consideration under the law is because the law views attending physicians as people who have seen you on more than one occasion and are treating you.

And so the law presumes that they know you pretty well. They know you pretty well – that's your – that's your – that's your doctor. Your doctor probably knows you better than the IME examiner. That's what the law says. Or it doesn't say it- it's just what is being implied.

But what it does say is that you have to give the attending physician special consideration and that's a concept in the law that is difficult for anyone to really wrap their mind around because it says well you don't give more weight or credibility – but you have to listen to their opinions. So here Dr. Earle – who testified on behalf of the employer – is the attending physician. RP, page 34, line 18, through page 35, line 12.

Again during his closing argument, counsel for Glacier Northwest argues that Dr. Gritzka is not the attending physician and special consideration cannot be given to his testimony, as opposed to Dr. Earle:

So who is Dr. Gritzka? Well he's that doctor that has a fancy Harvard undergrad and a medical degree. But he saw the claimant at the request of the lawyer all three times – all three times.

Now there may or may not be bias there – that's up to you guys to decide. But he didn't treat him. He didn't have a doctor patient relationship. It's the lawyer asking the doctor to see Mr. Beck – wonder what that was for. RP, page 47, line 19, through page 48, line 1.

If that were not enough, counsel again emphasized that Dr. Earle is the attending physician and under the law he gets special consideration.

Again counsel emphasizes that Dr. Earle is the only attending physician to testify and he is entitled to special consideration:

So let's switch over now. Let's talk about the evidence for my client, Glacier. So we have Dr. Guy Earle – the attending physician – entitled to special consideration – that's my argument – he's the attending physician and under law he gets special consideration. I know of no distinction that would entitle him to that. RP, page 50, line 22, through page 51, line 2.

The jury returned their verdict in favor of Glacier Northwest, Judgement was entered on the verdict, and Mr. Beck appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division II. After the parties had filed their respective briefs, the Brief of the Appellant, the Brief of the Respondent, and the Appellant's Reply Brief, Division II issued a determination that the appeal would proceed to decision without oral argument, indicated by Appendix A. Mr. Beck filed his objection to decide the case without oral argument, Appendix B, and the Chief Judge denied the request as indicated by Appendix C.

The Court of Appeals, Division II, then on May 23, 2017, filed its Unpublished Opinion conceding that error may have been committed by the trial court in giving the attending physician instruction, but that any error was harmless, Appendix D. Mr. Beck cannot imagine any more grievous error that could have been committed during the course of the trial that prevented him from having a fair trial. Glacier Northwest's counsel did not only refer to the distinction between Dr. Earle and Dr. Gritzka, but he vehemently argued throughout his closing that special consideration be given to Dr. Earle as opposed to Dr. Gritzka, who had examined Mr. Beck on three separate occasions over the course of the claim.

ARGUMENT

In reviewing the decision in *Boeing Co. v. Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. 181, 186-189, 968 P.2d 14 (1998), where four attending physicians split on their testimony whether the worker was injured and the attending physician instruction was not given, the Court in *Clark County v. McManus*, 185 Wn.2d 466, 475-76, 372 P.3d 764, 764 475 (2016), held that the attending physician instruction is required, except in those cases where there are articulable reasons for not accepting the attending physician testimony. Mr. Beck maintains that there were articulated reasons for not giving the instructions as in *Harker-Lott*, and it was error to give the instruction to the jury. The *McManus* court emphasized that by not giving the instruction, it would convert the rule of law into no more than the opinion of the workers' attorney. By the same token, by giving the instruction in this case where it should not

have been given, it converts the opinion of the employer's attorney into the authority of law.

The Unpublished Opinion of Division II at page 7, distinguished the attending physician instruction from other instructions by emphasizing that this instruction does not require the jury to give more weight to Dr. Earle's testimony, and if there is an abundance of other evidence against Mr. Beck, he cannot show that the error is prejudicial. What the Court of Appeals is stating is that the attending physician instructions has less authority than the other instructions given by the trial court, and if they weigh the other evidence in the case on which the verdict could be sustained, any error is harmless.

Clark County v McManus, 186 Wn.2d at page 476, reiterates its holding that special consideration should be given to the opinion of an attending physician, unless specific reasons why the attending physician instruction are articulated. Mr. Beck is able to articulate specific reasons for why the attending physician's instruction should not be given. Mr. Beck was referred to Dr. Earle by the nurse case manager hired by the self insured employers claim administrator. Dr. Earle only saw Mr. Beck three times during a month's period of time, had disapproved the job analysis for concrete mixer trucker driver, had discharged Mr. Beck when a controversy arose over treatment, and then approved the same job analysis two months later, resulting in his time loss benefits being terminated and the claim closed. The trial court did commit prejudicial error by giving the attending physician instruction.

The Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II, is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *McManus* and the Court of

Appeals, Division I, in *Harker-Lott*. The attending physician's instruction does have the authority of law, and the appellate court should not weigh the other evidence to rationalize giving the instruction. Mr. Beck was an injured worker unable to return to work because of his injury, going up against a large national corporation with unlimited resources to defend the claim. Mr. Beck had one medical expert who supported his need for treatment and time loss benefits and he should not be put on an unequal footing by giving Dr. Earle the benefit of the attending physician instruction.

Division II's reliance on *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists*, 151 Wn.2d 203, 87 P.3d 757 (2004) is misplaced. Citing *State v. Britton*, 27 Wn.2d 336, 341, 178 P.2d 341 (1947), *Blaney* at page 211, holds that an erroneous instruction is harmless if it is not prejudicial to the substantial right of the parties and in no way affected the outcome of the case. Though the Supreme Court found the jury instruction erroneous because it denied the jury discretion to determine the duration of Ms. Blaney's future employment. The instruction was in error because the duration of future employment in an employment discrimination case may not necessarily extend to retirement. *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists*, 151 Wn.2d at page 211. When considering an erroneous instruction, the court presumes prejudice subject to a comprehensive examination of the record. It then becomes the duty of appellate court to review the entire record and determine whether the error was harmless or prejudicial. Because the record revealed that Ms. Blaney presented evidence that she intended to work until retirement, the error was harmless. *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists*, 151 Wn.2d at page 211.

Though there was other evidence here to support the verdict in favor of Glacier Northwest, there is no question that Dr. Earle was being set off against Dr. Gritzka, and the attending physician instruction is the reason that Dr. Earle's opinion should prevail. Like in *Blaney*, if there was other evidence to support the jury instruction, such as evidence that Dr. Gritzka could be considered an attending physician, which there was not, the instruction could be considered harmless. The *Blaney* court in reviewing the record found evidence of Ms. Blaney's intent to work until retirement, and the error was harmless. Here, Division II could find no evidence to support giving the attending physician instruction, and the error was prejudicial. The other evidence in the case such as Dr. Bald's and Dr. Harris' testimony, both IME doctors, and the video surveillance support not giving the attending physician an instruction, as opposed to giving the instruction.

Where an instruction is clearly erroneous and the prejudice is presumed, the appellate court cannot weigh the other evidence to find a basis for the jury's verdict, or in essence decide the issue of fact that is being presented to the jury. The appellate court cannot invade the province of the jury to find other evidence to support the verdict beyond the attending physician issue. Had Division II allowed oral argument, the reasoning of the court with counsel could have been explored. *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists*, 151 Wn.2d at page 211.

///