FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/18/2017 10:19 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 94659-1

#### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NEIL R. BECK,

Petitioner,

v.

GLACIER NORTHWEST, INC.

and

THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

# RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

Ryan S. Miller, WSBA# 40026 Thomas G. Hall & Associates P.O. Box 33990 Seattle, WA 98133 Ph: (206) 622-1107 Fax: (206) 546-9613

rmiller@thall.com
Attorney for Respondent Glacier
Northwest, Inc.

###

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

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

There are four reasons why the Petition for Review should be denied and the Court of Appeals' decision maintained. First, the Petitioner has failed to demonstrate any colorable basis for his Petition under RAP 13.4(b). Second, the Court of Appeals' legal analysis was sound and should not be disturbed. Third, Dr. Earle was the "attending physician" of the Petitioner, and Jury Instruction No. 5 was therefore properly given. Fourth, even if the Superior Court were deemed to have abused its discretion by providing Jury Instruction No. 5, the Petitioner's arguments in support of his ostensible "prejudice" are untenable.

# A. The Petitioner Fails To Plead Any Issues That Warrant Review Under RAP 13.4(B)

The Petitioner attempts to argue that the Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to existing case law. *See* Petition at 2. First, the Petitioner attempts to argue that his case is analogous to *Boeing Co. v. Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. 181, 968 P.2d 14 (Div. I 1998), and insinuates the Court of Appeals erred by not analogizing his case to *Harker-Lott*. *See* Petition at 9-10. However the Petitioner's case is nothing like *Harker-Lott*, and his argument therefore fails.

In *Harker-Lott*, the claimant argued, "the lower court's refusal to give the [attending physician] instruction deprived her of a fair trial. She argues that because she was required to be examined by so many doctors who ultimately testified on Boeing's behalf, the instruction was needed to 'level the playing field." *Harker-Lott*, 93 Wn. App. at 185. The Division I Court in *Harker-Lott* held, "Because the testimonies of the [four] attending physicians were in conflict...The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to give the instruction." *Id.* at 188. Here, there was only one attending physician: Dr. Earle. As this Court has recently held,

the instruction is an accurate statement of the law in workers' compensation cases and the general rule that the jury be instructed on the law...

In *Harker-Lott*, the situation was somewhat unique and the jury could not give special consideration to multiple, conflicting attending physicians' testimony. Here, those circumstances do not exist.

Clark County v. McManus, 185 Wn.2d 466, 474, 372 P.3d 764 (2016). Emphasis added.

Next, the Petitioner attempts to invoke *McManus* for the proposition that the special consideration instruction "should be given to the opinion of an attending physician, unless specific reasons why the attending physician instruction are articulated." Petition at 10. The Petitioner's statement, even if properly worded to his apparent intent, is a brazen mischaracterization of what this Court held in *McManus*.

In *McManus*, the Court expressly "took review to determine if such an instruction is required in workers' compensation cases." *McManus*, 185 Wn.2d at 468. The Court of Appeals had rejected the claimant's argument that the trial court erred by refusing the attending physician instruction. *Id.* at 470. Before this Court, the County argued that the attending physician instruction was unnecessary, discretionary, and should not be mandatory. *Id.* at 472-73. This Court held:

in cases such as this where one attending physician testifies, the special consideration instruction must be given. Here, the trial court did not identify why a special consideration instruction should not be given and we find no reason. Our decision in *Hamilton*—which relied on long-standing policy surrounding workers' compensation cases—controls."

Id. at 476.

The Petitioner's use of *McManus* is faulty for two reasons. First, Petitioner's assertion that the attending physician instruction "should be given" mischaracterizes the primary thrust of the *McManus* decision: "in cases such as this where one attending physician testifies, the special consideration instruction *must* be given." Emphasis added. Second, the Petitioner seizes on the language of *Hamilton* regarding "articulable reasons," while passing by the express holding of the *McManus* Court that created a clear rule that cuts against the Petitioner's arguments.

Here, there was only one attending physician that testified: Dr. Earle. According to the express language of *McManus*, the attending physician instruction was not only proper, but was mandatory. The only fact that could meaningfully distinguish *McManus* from the present case is the fact that Dr. Earle testified on behalf of Glacier Northwest, Inc., and not the Petitioner. There is no legal exception to the attending physician instruction rule based on the nature of the attending physician's ultimate opinions. The Petitioner's arguments and insinuations regarding *McManus* are therefore untenable. *See* Petition at 10-11.

Lastly, the Petitioner attempts to argue that the Court of Appeals erred in its use of *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers*, 151 Wn.2d 203, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). *See* Petition at 11-12. The Court of Appeals cited *Blaney* for the same propositions argued by the Respondent in their Response brief submitted to Division II:

If a jury instruction is deemed by the court to be erroneous, the court is then to determine whether that error was harmless. *Blaney v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers*, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). An erroneous instruction is "harmless if it is not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the part[ies] . . .[] and in no way affected the final outcome of the case."

Response Br. at 17; see also, Beck, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 at \*6.

As far as the Respondent is able to discern, the Petitioner appears to be arguing that the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Blaney* "was misplaced" because "there was other evidence here to support the verdict in favor of Glacier Northwest." *See* Petition at 11-12. However, this ostensible argument is without merit and appears to make little sense. Neither the Respondent nor the Court of Appeals cited *Blaney* as factually analogous or to justify reaching any conclusion in this particular case. The Court of Appeals only cited *Blaney* for the rule statements therein regarding harmless error. It does not appear that the Petitioner is arguing that the Court of Appeals or the Respondent cited the wrong legal standard, so the Petitioner's criticism of the Court of Appeals' citation to *Blaney* is unclear. Whether or not the Respondent had "enough" evidence at trial is immaterial to the analysis regarding the appropriateness of the attending physician instruction in this case.

# B. The Court Of Appeals' Legal Analysis Was Sound: Even If The Superior Court Had Erred By Giving Jury Instruction No. 5, No Prejudice Resulted To The Petitioner And The Judgment And Verdict Should Remain Undisturbed Or Affirmed

The Court of Appeals did not reach the question of whether Jury Instruction No. 5 was properly given for Dr. Earle's testimony, but instead held that "Because any potential error was harmless, we affirm" the Superior Court's ruling. *Beck*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 at \*1. The Court of Appeals noted several bases upon which it found the assumed-but-not-decided error to be harmless.

The Court of Appeals noted that the Petitioner "contends that he was prejudiced by the special consideration instruction because Glacier Northwest referenced it in its closing argument as part of its strategy to distinguish Dr. Earle's testimony from Dr. Gritzka's testimony." *Beck*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 at \*8. The Court of Appeals then notes, "the special consideration instruction clearly states, 'Such special consideration does not require you to give greater weight or credibility to, or to believe or disbelieve such testimony. It does require that you give any such testimony careful thought in your deliberations." *Id.* (citing CP at 819).

Further, the Court of Appeals found significant that,

Glacier Northwest's case did not hinge on Dr. Earle's testimony. Rather it focused on the lack of evidence supporting Beck's position and the abundance of evidence against it. The evidence included surveillance footage showing Beck doing extensive home renovation work

without any signs of pain, MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) results showing no disc protrusion, and the testimony of two additional doctors who testified in support of Glacier Northwest's position.

Id.

Thus, the Court of Appeals found any possible error arising from Jury Instruction No. 5 to be harmless because the instruction did not require or ask the jury "to adopt or give more weight to Dr. Earle's testimony," and because of the "abundance" of other testimony presented that cut against the Petitioner's position at trial. *See id.* at \*8-9.

The Petitioner advances a number of arguments and rationalizations for why he believes Instruction No. 5 would have prejudiced him, even if it had been erroneously given. First, the Petitioner re-raises his concerns about the Employer mentioning the attending physician instruction during closing argument. *See Beck*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 at \*5; *see also*, Petition at 7-9, 12. The Petitioner even tries to argue, "there is no question...the attending physician instruction is the reason that Dr. Earle's opinion should prevail" over Dr. Gritzka. Petition at 12.

There was considerable reason to discount the testimony and opinion provided by Dr. Gritzka, beyond distinguishing him as *not* an attending physician: nearly all of the evidence admitted *other than* Dr. Gritzka's testimony was inconsistent with Dr. Gritzka's testimony. Indeed, the Petitioner's counsel adamantly refused to allow his witness,

Dr. Gritzka, to view and consider the surveillance video before providing his testimony. *See* CP at 536-39. The Petitioner would not allow his sole witness to view video showing the Petitioner hauling sheets of drywall (CP at 588, 664); lifting a bathroom vanity (CP at 589); loading heavy lumber on top of his van (CP at 588); kneeling, bending, and hammering whilst building a porch (CP at 589, 664); operating a tractor and backhoe (CP at 664); and moving fluidly with no painful posturing or movements (CP at 587-88).

The Petitioner's argument that "there is no question...the attending physician instruction is the reason that Dr. Earle's opinion should prevail" is wholly without merit and reflects an unwillingness or inability to candidly address the other evidence presented at trial, and Dr. Grizka's fundamentally flawed testimony that was based on a *deliberately* incomplete and skewed understanding of relevant facts. Also, it is notable that the Petitioner refrains from arguing that the Employer misstated the standard during closing arguments. The Respondent's counsel did not mischaracterize the attending physician instruction during closing argument, and no prejudice, therefore, could have resulted therefrom.

Next, the Petitioner argues that "Mr. Beck had taken exception to the giving of instruction No. 5 on the basis that Dr. Earle was the only doctor that could be considered the attending physician," and that would benefit Glacier. Petition at 6. The Petitioner later states flat-out, that "he should not be put on unequal footing by giving Dr. Earle the benefit of the attending physician instruction." *Id.* at 11. It appears the Petitioner is arguing that either both parties, or only claimants, should be entitled to the attending physician instruction to avoid "prejudice" to claimants. However, there is no existing law that all workers' compensation appeals, regardless of the facts, should be legally reduced to a coin toss. Nor is there any existing law that the attending physician instruction is only available when benefitting claimants. The Petitioner's argument fails to demonstrate prejudice, or any substantial right that was affected by the attending physician instruction being provided in this case.

Lastly, the Petitioner confoundingly argues, "the appellate court should not weigh the other evidence to rationalize giving the instruction." Petition at 11. Seemingly in contradiction, the Petitioner then states, "when considering an erroneous instruction, the court presumes prejudice subject to a comprehensive examination of the record. It becomes the duty of [the] appellate court to review the entire record and determine whether the error was harmless." *Id.* The "comprehensive examination" of the record will necessarily include "the other evidence" when *determining* whether the error was harmless.

Here, the Court of Appeals reviewed the briefing of the parties, and presumably engaged in a "comprehensive examination of the record." The Court of Appeals noted that the Employer's case hinged not upon the

attending physician instruction, but the fact that the Petitioner's case was unsupportable on the facts. The Court of Appeals was made aware that the Petitioner had actively kept his only witness from viewing the surveillance video, from being able to consider that evidence, and from being able comment on that evidence coherently. *See* Response Br. at 3. The Court of Appeals also took notice of the fact that Jury Instruction No. 5 expressly put the jury on notice that they were not required to give Dr. Earle's testimony more weight or credibility. *Beck*, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 1230 at \*5, \*8. "The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 662, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

The Petitioner's claim that the Court of Appeals "rationalized" their holdings and improperly considered the evidence presented is without merit, and fails to demonstrate even an inkling of prejudice to any substantial right, or to have had an effect upon the outcome of the Superior Court trial.

# C. Dr. Earle Was The "Attending Physician" During These Appeals; Therefore, Instruction No. 5 Was Appropriate

Dr. Earle was the Petitioner's attending physician under the definition provided by the Washington Administrative Code. The "attending physician instruction" is a mandatory jury instruction that has very narrow exceptions recognized at law, and none of which apply here.

WAC 296-20-01002 provides that, "For these rules, ["attending provider"] means a person licensed to independently practice one or more of the following professions: Medicine and surgery; osteopathic medicine and surgery; chiropractic...An attending provider actively treats an injured or ill worker."

It is uncontroverted that Dr. Earle was a licensed physician who had a doctor-patient relationship with the Petitioner until less than six months prior to the final claim closure. It is also uncontroverted that Dr. Earle "actively treated" the Petitioner and evaluated treatment options with him.

The Washington Courts have illuminated the reasoning behind the attending physician instruction. "[T]he court must give special consideration to the opinion of the attending physician...This is because an attending physician is not an expert hired to give a particular opinion consistent with one party's view of the case." *Intalco Aluminum Corp. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 66 Wn. App. 644, 654, 833 P.2d 390 (Div. I 1992). The attending physician instruction is also given because the attending physician "is better qualified to give an opinion as to the patient's disability than a doctor who has seen and examined the patient once." *Young v. Labor & Industries*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (Div. III 1996).

The Petitioner's arguments against the attending physician instruction being properly given are conclusory, misleading, and unsupportable by law. The Petitioner begins by citing *McManus*, 186 Wn.2d at 476, for the proposition that attending physicians are entitled to special consideration "unless specific reasons why the attending physician instruction are articulated." Petition at 10. The Petitioner then asserts, "Mr. Beck is able to articulate specific reasons for why the attending physician instruction should not be given." *Id*.

First, the Petitioner states that he "was referred to Dr. Earle by the nurse case manager hired by the self insured [sic] employers [sic] claim administrator." Id. It must be presumed that the Petitioner is seeking to imply some kind of bias or conspiracy against him. However, the Petitioner conceded that he was unable to secure a treating physician on his own when he moved to Sequim, WA, so he chose to rely on his nurse case manager's recommendation of Dr. Earle. See Appellant Brief at 5.

Dr. Earle was not a physician that was thrust upon the Petitioner by Glacier. Glacier did not direct or encourage their claims administrator to direct or encourage the nurse case manager to choose a specific doctor to be assigned to the Petitioner. Mr. Beck was incapable of locating an attending physician after moving to Sequim, WA. Mr. Beck received a recommendation from the nurse case manager that he then chose to pursue when he established care with Dr. Earle.

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